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INTHE UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS

GLENN VERSER,
No. N-72074,

Plaintiff,
VS. Case No. 3:15-cv-01263-SM Y

STEPHEN DUNCAN, et al.,

N N N N N N N N N N

Defendants.

MEMORANDUM AND ORDER

YANDLE, District Judge:

Glenn Verser was recently released fronsqmi At all times relevant to this case, he was
incarcerated ahe LawrenceCorrectional Centein Sumner, lllinois. Proceedingo se, Verser
brought thiscivil rights action(Doc. 1)in theUnited States District Court for thee@tralDistrict
of lllinois. A preliminary review pursuant to 28 U.S.€.1915A was performed by District
Judge Sue E. Myerscough (Doc. 15). Judge Myegdtogjected Plaintiff's attempt to pursue a
class action on behalf of all inmates at four lllinois prisons who weretsghby the “Orange
Crush” Tactical Unit in 2014. Plaintiff, howevewas permitted to proceed with claims
stemming from his own persah experience when the Orange Crush searched Centralia
Correctional Center on July 10, 2014. The order intimated that an amended complaint was
necessary.Because Centralia Correctional Center is located in the judicial district fthresou
lllinois, the case was transferred to this court. Upon closer inspection of Verser’s complaint
appears that he was actually searched at Lawrence Correctional Center, notaCelmtrahy
event, Lawrence is located in the southern district of lllinois, so this courin®rtinee proper

venue for this action.
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Although the original complaint underwent a preliminary review, Plaintiff fefshile
incarceratedfiled a proposed amended complaint, which the Court construes as a motion for
leave to amend (Docl9). In accordance with Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 15(a)(1),
Plaintiff may amend the complaint without the Court’s permission; accordinglyntition to
amend (Doc. 19) will be granted. The Court will now proceed with the preliminarywrevie
required under 28 U.S.C. § 1915A.

The Court is required to dismiss any portion of #mendedcomplaint that is legally
frivolous, malicious, fails to state a claim upon which relief may be granted, ofcaskeney
damages from a defendant who by law is immune fsaph relief. 28 U.S.C. § 1915A(bANn
action or claim is frivolous if “it lacks an arguable basis either in law or in” faNeitzke v.
Williams, 490 U.S. 319, 325 (1989). Frivolousness is an objective standard that refers to a claim
that any reasortae person would find meritlesd.ee v. Clinton, 209 F.3d 1025, 10287 (7th
Cir. 2000). An action fails to state a claim upon which relief can be granted if it doesaaat pl
“‘enough facts to state a claim to relief that is plausible on its fa8elt Atlantic Corp. v.
Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 570 (2007). The claim of entitlement to relief must cross “the line
between possibility and plausibility.ld. at 557. At this juncture, the factual allegations of the
pro se complaint are to be liberally cons&d. See Rodriguez v. Plymouth Ambulance Serv., 577
F.3d 816, 821 (7th Cir. 2009).

The Amended Complaint

Verser generally allegdsis constitutionalrights were violated during strip search and
cell shakedown conducted by the Orange Crush Tacticah Bed_awrence on July 10, 2014

Verser has nameak defendants 69 lllinois Department of Corrections employees and “Unknown
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Membersof theTactical Team Known as tf@range Crush*

Relative to the Jul\l0, 2014 search effort, Plaintiff claims some defiamts conducted
the search in a humiliating manner, violated the Prison Rape Elimination Act,-clrifgd
Plaintiff behind his back despite knowing Plaintiff had a medical permit prohiliiimgbeing
cuffed in that fashion, physically assaulted him, agdored his medical needs. Other
defendants allegedly failed to intervene to prevent those actidAd. defendants” were
purportedly informed of Plaintiff's medical permit and ignored his “serious rabdéeds.”

Two days after the Orange Crush seatehaintiff was seen by Nurse Angel Rector
regarding his hypertension. At that time Plaintiff sought treatment for injuriésrses during
the search, but Nurse Rector told Plaintiff he would have to make anotheaBickquest in
order to have those injuries addressed.

At an unspecified time, Heather Cecil “retaliated against the Plaintiff byfentey with
his legal mail [from appointed counsel] by holding or returning it to senderd rasult, Verser
missed the deadline for filing a motion foosts following a favorable judgment Werser v.
Barfield, 741 F.3d 734 (h Cir. 2013).

Plaintiff Verserseeks compensatoapndpunitive damages.

Discussion

The Court will begin with a preliminary note concerning the handling of Orange Crush
casesin the Southern Districbf lllinois. Verser’'s amendedcomplaint closely tracks the
pleading inRoss v. Gossett, Case No. 1&v-309-SMY-PMF, which was filed in this Court on

March 19, 2015. The plaintiff in Ross is seeking injunctive relief and damages leehalf of

! Two defendants named in the original complaint have not been named in the amended
complaint: Joseph Yurkovich and Gladyse C. Taylor. Two individuals have been added as
defendants in the amended complaint: Goins and Officer Armstrong.
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himself anda class of prisoners that were subjected to similar strip searches whilesnatagdcat

Lawrence and three othBiinois prisons during 2014. Should tRess class be certified, Verser

would likely be a member of the class. Owito the similarities between the two cases and the

need to consolidate judicial resourcésrser’'scase was transferred to the undersigned judge.

With that point out of the way, the Court will evaludferser’s particular claimgursuant

to 28 U.S.C.8 1915A In his amendedcomplaint, Verser has listed fourdiscrete causes of

action,which ae set out below. Because Verbas enumerateall of his claims, the Court will

rely on higlist for the operativeauses of actiothatPlaintiff wishes to bringn this case.

COUNT 1:

COUNT 2

Cruel and unusual punishment was inflicted in violation of Enghth
Amendment when:

(@) John Doe (Badge No. 13371) and an unidentified officer inflicted
unnecessary physical and emotional pain and suffering upon Plaintiff
during the strip search, shakedown;

(b) John Doe (Badge No. 13371) was deliberately indifferent to Plaintiff's
serious medical needs;

(c) John Doe (Badge No. 13371) and other unidentifieater formed a
“nuts to butts” line up (also violating the Prison Rape Elimination Act
42 U.S.C. § 15607

(d) T. Conrad, S. ConradJustin Eckelberry, Jerry Tanner, Marcus
Jenkins, Eric Weber, Brian Livingston, Gary Perkins, Akeem
Hamilton, Kyle Brooks anddnknown Members of the Tactical Team
“Orange Crush” failed to intervene relative to how Plaintiff's hands
were cuffed, and then they physically assaulted Plaintiff; and

(e) Investigating Officer Leak, Goins and Brad Stuck ignored Plaintiff's
medical needs.

Steven Duncan, Michael Gilreath, Jason Zollars, Andy Stout, Dale
Monical, Ben Lewis, Brad Yonaka, Kevin W. Johnson, Janet Carle,
Officer Armstrong, Bud Brown, Stephen Sawyer, Walter McCormick,
Jerry Harper, Jason Ginder, Jeremiah Patterson, James Berry, Randy
Baylor, Bill Carrol, Lance Wise, Daniel Dust, Jarrod Carter, Timothy
McCallister, Noble Harrington, Samuel Shehorn, Jeffrey Kid, Ben
Vaughn, Tavis Ochs, Robert Kamp, Anthony Senn, Trent Ralston, Maury
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Goble, Bradley Ausbrook, Seth Hough, Christopher Brant, Ethan Clary,
Matt Winka, Michael Dean, Nicholas Lampley, Dallas Willis, Christopher
Cales, James Gosnell, Alexander Lockhart, Matthiaveble, Andrew
Gangloff, Maly Ellen Thomason, Doug Line, Jacob Milan, Zathia
Buchanan, Andrew Volk, John Chenault Jr., Dan Mullin, Andrew Mays,
Brandon Richey, and Unknown Members of the Tactical Team “Orange
Crush” Failed to intervene when Plaintiff was physically assaulted in
violation of the Eight Amendmensde Count 1)?

COUNT 3: Nurse Angel Rector as deliberately indifferent to Plaintiff's serious
medical needs in violation of the Eighth Amendment.

COUNT 4: Heather Cecil retaliated against Plaintiff in violation of the First
Amendment when she interfered with “legal mail” from his counsel and/or
the John Marshall Law School.

COUNTS1-3
Given the similarity betweeWerser'scomplaint and the complaint Ross, the fact that
the complaint inRoss was permitted through screenirapd the fact thamultiple motiors to
dismiss arepending inRoss but not yet decided, the Court is of the opinion tGatnts 1-3
cannot be dismissed #itis time Those claimswill be allowed to proceed. However, the Court
stresses that the defendaats not precluded from moving to dismitbe amendedctomplaintor
portions of it for the reasons articulated in Russ motiors to dismisgor for any other reasons).
With respect tothe Unknown Party Orange Crush officers, including the officer
identified by Badge Nal3371 theseofficersmust be identified with padularity before service
of the amendedcomplaint can occur othem. Where aprisoner'scomplaint states specific
allegations describing the conduct of unknowarrections officerssufficient to raise a
constitutional claim against them, thasonershould have the opportunity to engage in limited

discovery in order to ascertainethdentity of those defendantsRodriguez v. Plymouth

2 The knowledge ahinvolvement of all 54lus defendants to this claim strains credulity, but at
this juncture, given the notice pleading standard, Count 2 will not be dismissed.
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Ambulance Serv., 577 F.3d 816, 832 (7th Cir.2009n this case, guidelines for discovery aimed
at identifying the unknown partieswill be set by the magistrate judgeOncethe unknown
Orange Crush officers are identifie¥erser shall file a motion to substitute the named
individualswith theUnknown Party officer designations.

COUNT 4

Count 4 alleges that, at an uesjied time(s), Heather Cecil retaliated against Plaintiff
by interfering with “legal mail” sent from Plaintiff's appointed counsel and@hn Marshall
Law School. As a result, iMerser v. Barfield, 741 F.3d 734 ("}’Cir. 2013), Plaintiff missed the
deadline for seeking costs.

Plaintiff specifically characterizes the allegations as retaliation, as eppts
interference with Plaintiff's right to access the Court and/or seek redréss grievances, also
within the ambit of the First Amendment. Because Plaintiff spadlificasserts a [Fst
Amendment retaliation clainthe Court will analyze it as such.

“An act taken in retaliation for the exercise of a constitutionally proteatdd violates
the Constitution.'DeWalt v. Carter, 224 F.3d 607, 618 (7th Ci2000). “Otherwise permissible
actions by prison officials can become impermissible if done for retaliateagons.”
Zimmerman v. Tribble, 226 F.3d 568, 573 (7th Ci2000). In order to state eetaliationclaim, a
plaintiff must demonstrate that(1) his speech was constitutionally protected; (2) he has
suffered a deprivation likely to deter free speech; and (3) his speech was at reatstating
factor” behind the retaliatory actiondassey v. Johnson, 457 F.3d 711, 716 (7th Cir. 2006).

The amended complaint de not suggestHeather Ceci¢ retaliatory reason for
interfering with Plaintiff's “legal mail. Count 4, therefore, will be dismissed ouithprejudice.

Again, the allegations suggestlaim related to the interference wiaintiff's right to access
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the Court and/or seek redrest grievances, but Plaintiff must make that decision. When
considering whether to further amend the complaint to plead a First AmendmentRiaintiff
should keep in mindeorge v. Smith, 507 F.3d 605 (7th Cir. 2007), and Federal Rule of Civil
Procedure 20.

In George, the Seventh Circuit emphasized that unrelated claims against different
defendants belong in separate lawsuits, “not only to prevent the sort of morass” produced by
multi-claim, mult-defendant suits “but also to ensure that prisoners pay the required filing fees”
under the Prison Litigation Reform Adkeorge, 507 F.3d at 607, (citing 28 U.S.C. § 1915(b),
(9)). Although a party may join “as many claims as it has againepposing party, claim A
against Defendant 1 should not be joined with unrelated Claim B against Defendddt at”

607. Multiple defendants can be joined in a single action, but only if: “(A) any rightieb isel
asserted against them jointly, severally, or in the alternative with respecttising out of the
same transaction, occurrence, or series of transactions or occurrences; and&stion of
law or fact common to all defendants will arise in the actionEbp.R.Qv.P. 20(a)(2). If
Plaintiff were to file a second amended complaint that added a First Amendmentagainst
Heather Cecil, and the Court concluded Cecil could not be joined witbthiee defendants
involved in the counts pertaining to the Orange Crush incident, the Amehdment claim
would be severed into a new case and an additional filing fee would automdtecalgessed.

Disposition

IT ISHEREBY ORDERED thatPlaintiff's motion to file an amended complaint (Doc.
19) isGRANTED. The Clerk shall file the amendedraplaint.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that with respect to the newly amended complaint,

COUNT 4 and DefendanHEATHER CECIL areDISMISSED without preudice.
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IT ISFURTHER ORDERED that COUNTS 1-3 of the newly amended complasttall
PROCEED.
Because Plaintifpaid the full filing fee and he has not moved for service of process at

government expensaeg 28 U.S.C.8 1915(d)) Plaintiff is responsible for effecting service of

process in accordance with Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 4. Because the apnwenghuoht

was submitted prior to December 1, 2015, Plaintiff has 120 days to effect servesieff
December 1, 2015, the period was reduced to 90 days). Plaintiff is advisée thay utilize
the waiver provision in Rule 4(d) to satisfy the service reqeremFailure to effect service
within the 120day period mayesult in the dismissal dhe defendarfs) or the case.Proof of
service is required under Rule 4(l).

Defendants areORDERED to timely file an appropriate responsive pleading to the
complaint and shall not waive filing a reply pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1997¢e(Q).

Pursuant to Local Rule 72.1(a)(2), this action REFERRED to United States
Magistrate Judge Stephen C. Williams for further pretrial proceedings.

Further,this entire matter shalle REFERRED to a United States Magistrate Judfyps
disposition, pursuant to Local Rule 72.2(b)(2) and 28 U.S.C. § 6366t),parties consent to
such areferral.

Finally, Plaintiff isADVISED that he is under a continuing obligation to keep the Clerk
of Court and each opposing party informed of any change in his address; the Court will not
independently investigate his whereabouts. This shall be done in writing and nohdaté
days after a transfer or other change in address occurs. Failure to comply with this drder w

cause a delay in the transmission of court documents and may result in disntisisahction
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for want of prosecutionSee FED. R.Civ. P. 41(b).
IT1SSO ORDERED.
DATED: December 11, 2015
s/ STACIM. YANDLE

STACI M. YANDLE
United States District Judge
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